Immunobiology of the Macrophage

Edited by David S. Nelson

Immunobiology of the Macrophage

Edited by DAVID S. NELSON

Kolling Institute of Medical Research
The Royal North Shore Hospital of Sydney:
St. Leonards, New South Wales, Australia

(内部交流)



ACADEMIC PRESS

New York San Francisco London 1976

A Subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers

Preface

In recent years an improved understanding of the roles played by macrophages in the immune system has led to an increased interest in these cells by immunologists in general and, inevitably, to an increase in the volume of literature concerning them. In this book a group of immunologists of diverse scientific and geographic backgrounds present an account of the present state of knowledge of the immunobiology of the macrophage. The authors have been encouraged to give personal accounts of current developments in their special fields of interest as well as critical surveys of the backgrounds leading to these developments. Some topics have been considered from differing viewpoints in the different chapters so that the reader may sense the continuing activity in areas of controversy. We hope that this work will provide both knowledge and stimulation for further research.

Most scientists—especially those who edit books and write reviews—have a burden of gratitude to many people. Acknowledgment of all one's pastors and masters, colleagues, assistants, and critics would be well-nigh impossible (as well as being of little interest to the reader), but I cannot let the opportunity pass to thank the following people: Dr. Maurice Landy, who suggested the production of this book and who, with Drs J. J. Oppenheim and A. S. Rosenthal, helped mold its shape; the staff of Academic Press for their patient assistance; my colleagues in the Kolling Institute, especially Katherine Carson, Jean Penrose, and Cynthia Shneider, for administrative and scientific assistance and for tolerating my short temper while in literary labor; and my wife, Dr. Peggy Nelson, for her forebearance, encouragement, and support, both domestic and scientific, in this as in so many other ventures.

David S. Nelson

Introduction

Many would argue that the golden era of phagocyte biology occurred at the turn of the century. Highlighted by the discoveries of Ilya Metchinokoff and his contemporaries, this exciting period saw the process of phagocytosis placed in a broad and physiological perspective, spanning the phylogenetic tree from protozoa to man. Largely focused on infectious processes, this work progressed with the simplest of technologies and laid the groundwork for all that was to follow. Aided by the brilliance of the continental schools of organic chemistry, vital and supravital dyes were synthesized and rapidly employed by cytologists in their search for those cells which would eventually be categorized as belonging to the reticuloendothelial system. "Cytases" and intracellular digestion took their place in the medical literature, neutral red and Janus green reached their acme, chick embryo extract and Carrell flasks flourished. hosts and parasites began their struggle for dominance, and learned colleagues argued endlessly over the relative importance of humoral and cellular factors. Ferments and intermediary metabolism were rather vague notions and herd immunity and antitoxins were in vogue. But in spite of the uncertainties of biochemical and immunological knowledge, the cellular pathologists of the day, those visionaries of disease pathogenesis, were incorporating the microphages and macrophages with their enzymes and antienzymes into a framework of inflammation, tissue injury, degenerative disease, and wound repair. A framework which even today with ever increasing sophistication is current and timely.

This era passed and with it the verve and interest in the study of the phagocyte—in part, because investigators were diverted into other exciting areas of contemporary biology; in part, because of the advent of chemotherapy and the control of bacterial disease; in part, because the bright young investigators of the day became the Deans and Department Chairmen; in part, because departments of pathology, particularly experimental pathology, lost their regal and central role in the medical curriculum. In any event, in spite of a few dedicated phagists, the doldrums were upon us.

xviii Introduction

Yet, even a brief perusal of this volume indicates that the tides have turned and the fortunes of the macrophage are once again ascendant; a transition which has occurred within the last decade and one with uncertain origins. Spurred by all the tools and concepts of modern science, one could mention the tritiation of thymidine, the latency of rat liver phosphatases, the Millipore filter, the flying coverslip, buffered osmium, the sheep erythrocyte, zymosan and its humoral companions, the first and sixth carbons of grape sugar, bleaches and horseradishes, polystyrene and mayonnaise, ammonium sulfate and pepsin, beans and stalks. All played a role in the renaissance and the revisitation of Metchinkoff.

But if the zenith has not been reached, what of the future? What new insights can be obtained and how will they mesh with the new cell biology? Where do the answers lie which will elucidate the current phenomenon of chemotaxis and motility, endocytosis, immunological receptors, activation, secretory products, the containment of neoplasms, and the regulation of the immune response?

They lie in the wasteland of the plasma membrane and contractile proteins, in the discovery of new and meaningful genetic models, and in the development of a novel sociology to explain the interactions of the macrophage with its molecular and cellular neighbors. David Nelson and his gifted colleagues have set the stage.

Zanvil A. Cohn
LABORATORY OF CELLULAR PHYSIOLOGY AND IMMUNOLOGY
THE ROCKEFELLER UNIVERSITY
NEW YORK, NEW YORK

v 3

Contents

1 The Role of Macrophages in Antibody Responses in Vitro	
Carl W. Pierce and Judith A. Kapp	-
I. Introduction	
II. Antibody Responses in Vitro	
III. Introductory Immunogenetics	1
IV. Requirements for Macrophages in Antibody Responses in Vitro	7
V. Functions of Macrophages in Antibody Responses in Vitro	13
VI. Immunogenetic Considerations of Macrophage Functions in Antibody	
Responses in Vitro	22
VII. Conclusions, Present State of the Art, and the Future	27
VIII. Note Added in Proof	29
References	30
2 The Role of Macrophages in the Specific Determination of Immunogenicity and Tolerogenicity	
Donald E. Moster	
I. Introduction	25
II. In Vitro Requirements for Cell Activation by DNP-o-GL	28
III. Characteristics of an Antigen Which Does Not Require Macrophage	-
Processing	41
IV. Macrophage Roles in Cell Activation	43
References	48
3 Role of Macrophages in T Cell-B Cell Collaboration in Antibody Production	
A. Basten and Judith Mitchell	
I. Introduction	45
II. Immunobiology of T Cell-B Cell Collaboration	- 46
III. Role of Macrophages in T Cell-B Cell Collaboration	12
IV. Mechanisms of T Cell-B Cell Collaboration	80
V. T Cell-B Cell Collaboration in Vivo	73
References	85

Y

4 Functional Heterogeneity William S. Walk	- 0
I. Introduction	
II. Functional Heterogeneity of Macrophages i	from Different Tissues 92
III. Functional Heterogeneity of Macrophages f	
IV. Conclusions	
References	108
5 The Role of Macrophages in the In Immunity in Vi	
Joost J. Oppenheim and Rol	
I. Introduction	
II. Contribution of Macrophages to Induction Reactions and in Priming Helper T Cells f	of Delayed Hypersensitivity
III. Relationship of Macrophage Presentation a	nd Processing of Antigens to
Induction of Cell-Mediated Immunity	
IV. Regulation of Immunogenicity of Macroph	
V. Summary and Conclusions	
References	
Alan S. Rosenthal, J. Thomas Blak Dirk K. Greineder, and Pet I. Introduction II. Macrophages Are Required for Antigen Res III. Interaction between Macrophage and Solu Respones IV. Genetic Regulation of Functional Macrophages V. Physical Interactions between Macrophages VI. Role of Macrophages in Nonantigenic Stimus	ter E. Lipsky
VII. Model Building for the Cellular and Molecu	
nition by T Lymphocytes	
References	158
7 The Role of Macrophages in the Lymphocytes in V	V itro
David L. Rosenstreich and Joo	
I. Introduction	
II. Mechanisms of Action of Macrophages	
III. The Role of Macrophages in Antigen-Induc	ed Lymphocyte Proliferative
Responses in Vitro	of B and T Lymphocytes to
Mitogens in Vitro	
V. The Role of Macrophages in the Activat logeneic Cells (MLR)	ion of Lymphocytes by Al-
VI. The Role of Macrophages in the Activation	of B Lymphocytes by Sheen
Erythrocytes	

VII. The Role of Macrophages in the Induction of Lymphokine Synthesis B and T Lymphocytes	190
VIII. Summary and Conclusions	
8 The Ability of Macrophages to Augment in Vitro Mitogen- a Antigen-Stimulated Production of Interferon and Other Mediators of Cellular Immunity by Lymphocytes Lois B. Epstein	nd
I. Introduction	202
II. The Ability of Macrophages to Augment Mitogen-Stimulated Production of Interferon by Lymphocytes	n
III. The Ability of Macrophages to Augment Bacterial and Viral Antiger Stimulated Production of Interferon by Lymphocytes	n-
IV. Macrophages and Their Relationship to the Production of Other Medi	a-
tors of Cellular Immunity by Lymphocytes V. Macrophages and Their Role in Affecting the Production of Vira	
Induced Interferon by Leukocytes	
VI. Summary	
200000000	. 201
9 Nonspecific Immunoregulation by Macrophages	
and Their Products	
D. S. Nelson	
I. Introduction	
II. Potentiation of Lymphoid Cell Responses	
III. Inhibition of Lymphoid Cell Responses	
IV. Mode of Action of Macrophages in Depressing Lymphocyte Responses . V. Significance of Lymphoid Cell Stimulation and Inhibition by Macrophage	s
and Their Products References	
10 Macrophage Membranes	
Janet M. Oliver and Richard D. Berlin	
I. Introduction	. 259
II. Probes of Macrophage Surface Organisation	. 261
III. Random Mobility of Macrophage Surface Proteins	
IV. Organized Movement of Macrophage Surface Elements	. 264
V. Control of Translational Movements of Receptors and Transport Proteins within the Plane of the Membrane	-
VI Summary	. 266
VI. Summary	. 271 . 272
11 Macrophage Cell Lines and Their Uses in Immunobiology Vittorio Defendi	
I. Introduction	. 275
II. Growth of Primary Macrophages in Vitro	276
III. Permanent Lines with Properties of Macrophages	283

IV. Conclusion	288 289
12 Monocyte Kinetics and Their Changes in Infection Alvin Volkman	
I. Introduction	2 91
II. Theoretical and Methodological Background	293
III. Cell Kinetics of the Monocytes	295
IV. Cell Kinetics of Monocytes in Infection	311
V. Concluding Remarks	319
References	32 0
13 Chemotaxis of Macrophages	
Ralph Snyderman and Stephan E. Mergenhagen	
I. Introduction	323
II. Methods for Quantifying Macrophage Chemotaxis	324
III. Humoral Factors Chemotactic for Macrophages	32 9
IV. Lymphocy te-Derived Chemotactic Factors	333
V. Chemotactic Factors from Bacteria	337
VI. Factors Which Alter Monocyte Chemotactic Function	337
VII. Abnormalities of Monocyte Chemotaxis in Human Diseases	340
VIII. Summary and Conclusions	345
References	346
14 Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Chemotaxis	
14 Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Chemotaxis of Macrophages and Monocytes	
of Macrophages and Monocytes	
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson	250
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction	350
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage	350
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration	350 351
I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor	350 351 353
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils	350 351 353 356
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Func-	350 351 353
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions	350 351 353 356
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis	350 351 353 356 358
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis IX. Conclusions	350 351 353 356 358 360
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis	350 351 353 356 358 360 361
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis IX. Conclusions References 15 Lymphocyte-Macrophage Interactions and Macrophage	350 351 353 356 358 360 361 363
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis IX. Conclusions References 15 Lymphocyte-Macrophage Interactions and Macrophage Activation in the Expression of Antimicrobial Immunity in Vivo	350 351 353 356 358 360 361 363
I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis IX. Conclusions References 15 Lymphocyte-Macrophage Interactions and Macrophage Activation in the Expression of Antimicrobial Immunity in Vivo Robert V. Blanden, Andrew J. Hapel,	350 351 353 356 358 360 361 363
of Macrophages and Monocytes P. C. Wilkinson I. Introduction II. Locomotion of Different Types of Macrophage III. Modes of Macrophage Migration IV. Recognition of Chemotactic Factors at the Cell Membrane V. Intracellular Events following Interaction of the Chemotactic Factor with the Cell Membrane VI. Differential Effects of Bacterial Toxins on Locomotion of Neutrophils and Macrophages VII. Recognition in Chemotaxis, Phagocytosis, and Other Macrophage Functions VIII. Antigen-Specific Chemotaxis IX. Conclusions References 15 Lymphocyte-Macrophage Interactions and Macrophage Activation in the Expression of Antimicrobial Immunity in Vivo	350 351 353 356 358 360 361 363

Contents

III. Mechanisms of T Cell and Macrophage-Mediated Immunity to Infection IV. Conclusions	
References	
16 Macrophage Activation by Lymphocyte Mediators and Studio on the Interaction of Macrophage Inhibitory Factor (MIF) with Its Target Cell John R. David and Heinz G. Remold	es
	461
II. Macrophage Activation by Lymphocyte Mediators	401 403 414 421
V. Conclusion	423 423
17 Secretion of Macrophage Enzymes in Relation to the Pathogene of Chronic Inflammation	esis
Philip Davies and Anthony C. Allison	
I. Introduction II. The Origin and Turnover of Cells in Sites of Chronic Inflammation III. In Vitro Studies on the Role of Macrophages in Chronic Inflammation IV. What Is the Contribution of Hydrolytic Enzyme Secretion to Chronic	428 428 430
Inflammation? V. Other Products of Macrophages VI. Interactions and Modulating Factors References	448 451 454 457
18 Induction of Macrophage-Mediated Cytotoxicity	
Marie-Luise Lohmann-Matthes	
I. Introduction II. Macrophage-Mediated Cytotoxicity in Allograft Rejection	464
III. Cytotoxic Macrophages in Syngeneic Tumor Systems	464 469
Microorganisms V. In Vitro Induction of Macrophage-Mediated Cytotoxicity	472
VI. Summary and Implications	473 481
References	484
19 Cytostatic and Cytocidal Effects of Activated Macrophages R. Keller	
I. Introduction	487
II. Nomenclature III. Cytostatic Effects of Activated Macrophages	488
IV. Cytocidal Effects of Macrophages	489 499
V. The Biologic Relevance of the in Vitro Findings	503
VI. Critical Outlook	505
References	507

20 Macrophages and the Destruction of Syngeneic Virus-Induced Tumors	
Satvir S. Tevethia, Joyce M. Zarling, and Martin H. Flax	
I. Introduction II. Antigenicity of Cells Transformed by Oncogenic Viruses III. Immune Response of Syngeneic Host to Virus-Induced Tumors IV. Role of Macrophages in Rejection of Virus-Induced Tumors V. Steps in the Development of Cell-Mediated Immunity and the Mechanisms of Rejection of DNA Virus-Induced Tumors	50 51 51 51 51
References	53
21 Mechanisms of Extracellular Killing of Nucleated Mammalian Cells by Macrophages R. Evans and P. Alexander	
I. Introduction	530
II. Specific Macrophage Cytotoxicity III. Nonspecific Macrophage Cytotoxicity IV. Cytotoxic Macrophages and the Tumor Bearing Host V. In Vivo Significance of the Nonspecifically Cytotoxic Macrophage VI. Role of Macrophages in Surveillance VII. Conclusion References 22 Immunotherapeutic Approaches to Tumors Involving the Skin O. A. Holtermann, E. Klein, I. Djerassi, J. D. Bernhard, and S. Parmett I. Introduction II. Clinical Investigations III. A Primitive Surveillance Mechanism? IV. Summary References	533 558 564 570 572 572 573
20 1/ 1 1/2/ 1 1/2/	
23 Macrophages and Their Disorders in Man	
Mary Territo and Martin J. Cline I. Metabolism II. Functions III. Disorders of the Monocyte-Macrophage System IV. Summary and Future Perspectives References	594 596 602 611 612
24 Macrophages: Perspectives and Prospects D. S. Nelson	
Text	617
Index	623

bracklet

The Role of Macrophages in Antibody Responses in Vitro

Carl W. Pierce and Judith A. Kapp

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Antibody Responses in Vitro	4
	A. Methodology	4
	B. Advantages and Disadvantages of Tissue Culture	
	Systems	4
III.	Introductory Immunogenetics	6
IV.	Requirements for Macrophages in Antibody	
	Responses in Vitro	7
	A. Separation and Purification	7
	B. Characteristics of Macrophages	9
	C. Antibody Responses to T Cell-Dependent	
	Antigens	10
	D. Antibody Responses to T Cell-Independent	
	Antigens	12
V.	Functions of Macrophages in Antibody Responses	
	in Vitro	13
	A. Promotion of Lymphoid Cell Viability	13
	B. Antigen Presentation	16
	C. Relationship of Viability-Promoting and Antigen	
	Presentation Functions of Macrophages	19
	D. The Macrophage as a Focus for T Cell-B Cell	
	Interaction?	20
VI.	Immunogenetic Considerations of Macrophage	٠.
• .	Functions in Antibody Responses in Vitre	22
	A. The Role of Macrophages in Antibody Responses	
	to Antigens Controlled by H-2-Linked Ir Genes	22
	B. Lack of Genetic Restrictions for Interactions	
	among Macrophages and Lymphoid Cells in	
	Antibody Responses	24
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

C. Role of Macrophages in Suppression of Antibody	
Responses by Alloantisera against Leukocyte	
Alloantigens	26
VII. Conclusions, Present State of the Art, and the Future	27
VIII. Note Added in Proof	29
References	30

I. INTRODUCTION

During the last decade, our understanding of the cells and mechanisms involved in the development and the regulation of antibody responses has increased at an astonishing pace. Distinct pathways for the differentiation of two classes of clonally restricted, antigen-specific, immunocompetent lymphocytes from hemopoietic stem cells are now well recognized, as are the distinctive properties and functions of these lymphocytes. Although the precise pathway (s) of differentiation of the precursors of antibody-producing cells, or B cells, in mammals is still the subject of intensive investigation, the immunologic function of B cells is incontrovertible. B cells, after interaction with antigen via membrane immunoglobulin (Ig) receptors specific for that antigen, and under appropriate regulatory influences of thymus-derived lymphocytes, develop into plasma cells that secrete antibody molecules uniquely capable of combining with the antigenic moiety which initially stimulated the B cells. Thymus-derived lymphocytes, or T cells, after interaction with antigen via a still undefined membrane receptor, do not synthesize nor secrete antibody. T cells, however, are responsible for the various phenomena of cell-mediated immunity including the tissue rejection phenomena, such as graft versus host reactions and allograft and tumor rejection, and the production of a variety of biologically active molecules, "lymphokines," which are responsible for the inflammatory response and the tissue damage characteristic of delayed hypersensitivity reactions. T cell function is also critical for immunity and resistance to certain infectious microorganisms. Furthermore, from the experiments of numerous investigators, it is now clear that T cells, in addition to their function as effector cells for cellmediated immune reactions, are the critical regulators of both B cell and T cell responses to antigen. T cells mediating positive regulatory functions are referred to as "helper cells" in antibody responses and "amplifier cells" in cell-mediated immune responses. Negative regulatory functions in both T cell and B cell responses are ascribed to "suppressor T cells." The relationships between and the mechanisms of action of the T cells mediating these opposing regulatory functions are currently under intensive investigation in numerous laboratories.

The antigens that stimulate antibody responses may be divided into two broad and probably artificial classes: T cell-dependent and T cellindependent antigens. T cell-dependent antigens are complex multideterminant antigens, such as heterologous erythrocytes and hapten-protein conjugates. The development of antibody responses to these antigens by B cells is strictly dependent on the concomitant positive regulatory influence, or helper effect, of T cells. T cell-independent antigens are generally polymeric molecules with repeating chemical subunits, such as pneumococcal polysaccharides, lipopolysaccharides, flagellin, and polyvinylpyrrolidone. These antigens are capable of stimulating antibody responses without the helper effect of T cells and thus derive their classification as T cell-independent antigens. However, in antibody responses to these types of antigens, the suppressive effects of T cells are most easily demonstrated and their classification as T cell-independent antigens becomes considerably less meaningful and valid. Several review articles are available which delve into this background material in greater detail (Katz and Benacerraf, 1972; Claman and Mosier, 1972; Gershon, 1974; Warner, 1974; Pierce and Benacerraf, 1975; Coutinho and Möller, 1975; Nossal and Schrader, 1975). garago an an Esta francia

The macrophage is a third type of cell that is intimately involved in the development and expression of humoral and cell-mediated immune responses. In contrast to T cells and B cells, macrophages are neither clonally restricted nor antigen specific, but function as nonspecific accessory cells. Their functions in antigen uptake, catabolism, and presentation to T and B cells in the initiation of immune responses have been reviewed (Unanue, 1972), as have their roles as accessory effector cells in both cellular and humoral immune responses (Benacerraf and Green, 1969). Considerable attention has also been devoted to the physiology of macrophages, the mechanisms of phagocytosis and pinocytosis, and their functions in the inflammatory response (Cohn, 1968; Nelson, 1969; van Furth, 1970; Gordon and Cohn, 1973; Steinman and Cohn, 1974a; Ebert and Grant, 1974). The reader is referred to these articles and appropriate chapters of this book for detailed information on these aspects of macrophage function.

In this chapter, we will attempt to present a common overview of the functions of macrophages in the initiation and fegulation of antibody responses in vitro. We realise some of our views may be controversial and biased by our experiences. However, if we succeed in acquainting the uninitiated reader with the complexities of these macrophage functions, and, at the same time, stimulate others to perform experiments to clarify those areas where controversy exists, we will have accomplished our goals.

II. ANTIBODY RESPONSES IN VITRO

A. Methodology

Two similar culture systems are used to study antibody responses in vitro. In both culture systems, dispersed, single spleen cells, or appropriate combinations of "purified" T cells, B cells, and macrophages are suspended in a completely supplemented culture medium containing selected fetal calf serum at a cell density between 10×10^6 and 20×10^6 cells/ml. In the system developed by Mishell and Dutton (1967), the cells are incubated with antigen in small plastic petri dishes at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 7% O₂, 10% CO₂, and 83% N₂ on a slowly rocking platform to facilitate interactions among the cells. Each culture is supplemented daily with a nutritional "cocktail" and fetal calf serum. In the system developed by Marbrook (1967), the cells and antigen are placed in a glass tube closed at the bottom with dialysis membrane. The bottom portion of the tube is immersed in culture medium contained in a larger vessel, and the apparatus is incubated stationary at 37°C in the humidified atmosphere used in the Mishell-Dutton system. The density of cells on the dialysis membrane is sufficient for required cell interactions, and the cultures do not require the daily supplementation with nutritional cocktail and fetal calf serum. After the desired incubation period, the cells are harvested and assayed for plaque-forming cells (PFC) to the stimulating antigen by one of the variations of the hemolytic plaque technique of Jerne et al. (1974). By employing appropriate modifications of this assay procedure (Pierce et al., 1971), IgM, IgG, and IgA PFC responses can readily be measured.

In addition to heterologous erythrocytes [usually sheep erythrocytes (SRBC)], hapten-protein conjugates, bacterial proteins, polysaccharides, lipopolysaccharides, serum proteins, viruses, and synthetic polypeptide antigens, such as the random terpolymer of L-glutamic acid**0-L-alanine**0-L-tyrosine**10 (GAT), stimulate both primary and secondary antibody responses in tissue culture systems. In these latter cases, the determinant of interest, the hapten, protein, or GAT, is coupled to the indicator erythrocyte used in the hemolytic plaque assay and, with appropriate controls, determinant-specific PFC responses can readily be measured.

B. Advantages and Disadvantages of Tissue Culture Systems

These two culture systems support the development of primary and secondary antibody responses with approximately equal efficiency. PFC

responses that develop in culture are comparable in magnitude, kinetics, Ig class, and dependence on antigen dose to responses in intact animals during the first 7 days after immunization (Claman and Mosier, 1972; Pierce, 1974). This parallelism between responses in vivo and in vitro has been observed for most antigens that have been studied thoroughly. It also has been the general experience that those antigens that stimulate poor primary responses in vivo also stimulate poor primary responses in vitro. Since culture systems are closed systems and one has more precise control of the components of these systems than is possible in vivo. they are well suited for investigations of the critical factors in the induction of the antibody response. For example, the numbers, types, and immune reactivities of cells from the immune system that are added to the cultures and the interactions among these cells can be rather precisely controlled. The concentration and physical form of the antigen and the interaction of the various types of cells with antigen in the cultures can also be controlled. Furthermore, specifically reactive cells or reagents, such as antimetabolites, antibodies to antigen, or membrane molecules on the responding cells, can be added to the system at defined times in known numbers or concentrations (Pierce, 1974). Although antibody responses in vitro are comparable in many respects to in vivo responses, and although tissue culture systems offer many advantages in experimentation not possible in vivo, one must be extremely cautious when extrapolating from one system to the other, and one should avoid making dogmatic statements based on results from one system which have not been confirmed in the other.

Tissue culture systems are not without disadvantages. Spleen cells or partially purified T and B cells from mice are most commonly used in these culture systems; lymphoid cells from rabbit, rat, and chicken have been used successfully only by a few investigators. Most of the data we will discuss have been derived from cultures of mouse cells. However, even with mouse lymphoid cells, considerable strain to strain variation exists, and no amount of cajoling or uttering of incantations, friendly or hostile, can convince spleen cells from some strains of mice to respond faithfully on a regular basis. Cell survival in these cultures is not good: only approximately 25% of the initial cells survive for 5 days. Thus, we are dealing with a dying system, and the effects of products released from dead or dying cells on the surviving cells are still largely unknown. The tissue culture environment itself is artificial and may not provide optimal conditions in terms of nutrients. In addition, fetal bovine serum, not required for antibody responses in vivo, is a necessary ingredient of the culture medium. Fetal bovine sera vary in their capacity to support antibody responses in vitro; some are nonsupportive, and others are non-

specifically cytotoxic. This variability is an annoyance that could readily be done without. Also absent from tissue culture systems are the multitude of in vivo homeostatic mechanisms, such as the influences of circulating immunocompetent cells, the influx of virgin precursor cells from central lymphoid tissues, and the feedback regulation by other stimulated lymphocytes and previously synthesized antibodies, all of which obviously affect development and expression of antibody responses. Last, antibody responses in tissue culture systems are subject to a variety of maladies that we call, in all seriousness, gremlins (C. W. Pierce and J. A. Kapp, unpublished observations, 1975). These include the propensity of the investigator to put fingers in the cultures or to drop the cultures and various acts of God and man, such as the tides, phases of the moon, rocket launches, and the changes of the seasons. Nevertheless, tissue culture systems have been extremely useful for investigating many facets of the antibody response; the function of macrophages has been one of these facets.

III. INTRODUCTORY IMMUNOGENETICS

We will restrict our discussion of immunogenetics to the major histocompatibility, or H-2, complex of the mouse as it relates to antibody responses, and will not consider genetics of immunoglobulins. The H-2 complex, a small segment of genome in the ninth linkage group on chromosome 17, has become the focus of great interest to immunologists with the recognition that this gene complex controls a variety of functions of immunological significance in addition to histocompatibility antigens. The H-2 complex has been divided into four regions on the basis of the antigens or immunologic functions each region controls. At the two ends of the H-2 complex are the K and D regions, which encode serologically detectable transplantation antigens. These antigens are present on membranes of macrophages, T cells, B cells, and nonlymphoid cells; these antigens not only stimulate T cells in the various tissue rejection responses but also are the membrane target antigens of the effector T cells in these responses. Inside the H-2 complex and adjacent to the D region is the S region, which encodes serum proteins in the complement sequence, but is otherwise unrelated in function to other regions of the complex. The I region lies between the S and K regions and encodes a family of antigens, Ia antigens, which are on the membranes of T cells, B cells, and macrophages and are also involved in the stimulation of T cells in tissue rejection responses. Recent observations indicate that syngenicity of I region antigens is necessary for optimal cooperative interactions between